# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 8/18/2021ivision I BY ERINStateMNONnington CLERK 021 4:17 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>100096-1</u> (COA No. 81795-7-I)

### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Dependency of:

J.D.E.C. and J.C.,

minor children.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

TIFFINIE MA Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
tiffinie@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

C. G.-R., the appellant father, requests this Court accept review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *In re the Dependency of J.D.E.C. and J.C.*, No. 81795-7-I (consolidated with No. 81796-5-I). A copy of the opinion is attached in the Appendix.

### B. **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The Due Process Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, § 3 protect a parent's fundamental right to the care, custody, and companionship of his children. To determine whether a parental rights termination trial satisfies due process, the court must weigh the parent's interest, the risk of error given the procedures employed, and the State's interest. Did the trial court violate Mr. G.-R.'s right to due process where the process rendered him unable to fully participate in the proceedings and limited his access to his attorney?

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State petitioned to terminate Mr. G.-R.'s parental rights to his children, J.D.E.C. and J.C.. CP 5-12, 209-15. The trial on both petitions began July 20, 2020. At the time, orders issued by the Washington Supreme Court and the Skagit County Superior Court in response to the COVID-19 pandemic permitted termination trials to be

conducted remotely. See Order re: Dependency and Termination Cases 25700-B-622 (April 30, 2020) (pp. 9-11); see also Skagit County Superior Court Admin. Order No. 20-8 (June 16, 2020) (pp. 3-4). Accordingly, the court conducted the trial via Zoom, an online video conferencing service. RP 7.

From the start, Mr. G.-R. struggled with remote access to the court. RP 6-8. He did not have Zoom, so he called in by telephone and was eventually able to connect. RP 7, 9. When all parties were present, Mr. G.-R.'s attorney requested a recess to the next day due to a medical emergency. RP 9-14.

Trial resumed on the 21st. RP 14. Mr. G.-R. moved for a continuance, citing the pandemic and his limited access to the court and his attorney. RP 17-18. Counsel stated, "It's almost impossible for me to have discussion with my client . . . as he may object to things that are going on that he doesn't let me know about." RP 18. Counsel argued he could not adequately represent Mr. G.-R. in a remote trial. *Id.* Mr. G.-R. noted he was using an old, unreliable cell phone to call into court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This case is a Whatcom County matter that was transferred to and heard in Skagit County.

and did not appear to have any other means to access the court remotely. RP 22.

Although all other participants appeared by video and could see the court, the parties, the witnesses, and the exhibits, the State argued Mr. G.-R.'s appearance by phone alone was sufficient, and that he could text his attorney if necessary. RP 19-20. No one confirmed whether Mr. G.-R. had the ability to text on his phone, or whether he could simultaneously use the call and text functions, if texting were even available. Later, counsel revealed he did not use his personal cell phone to communicate with Mr. G.-R., indicating Mr. G.-R. could not have texted his attorney in any event. RP 288-89.

The court denied the motion without discussion. RP 22. Mr. G.-R. attempted to further argue about his right to presence, but the court muted him, cutting off his access to the court and his attorney. RP 23. The court stated it would create a breakout room in Zoom for Mr. G.-R. to speak with his counsel privately if necessary, but it did not address how Mr. G.-R. could do that while muted by the court. *Id.* The court insisted, without considering the impacts of the pandemic or whether it would be safe, that Mr. G.-R. could have appeared in court in person or at his attorney's office but chose not to do so. *Id.* 

Mr. G.-R.'s access to the court and to his attorney was limited throughout the trial. He told the court he could not see any of the exhibits and asked, "How is this fair?" RP 28. The court ignored him. *Id.* The court also repeatedly muted him for minutes at a time, which, although intended to stop him from interrupting, also prevented him from asking to speak to his attorney. RP 35, 38, 133-34, 158. The court did not always unmute him before his attorney began cross-examining a witness, preventing him from consulting with his counsel about how to question the State's witnesses. RP 134-37; 158-162. Other times, when Mr. G.-R. attempted to ask questions, the court instructed him to pose them to his attorney but did not set up a breakout room. RP 123.

Mr. G.-R. also struggled to hear the proceedings accurately. At times, his attorney attempted to object to the State's questions posed during Mr. G.-R.'s testimony, but Mr. G.-R. mistakenly answered because he did not hear the objection. RP 42-43. When Mr. G.-R. did not return after a recess, the court assumed he had voluntarily absented himself and proceeded without him, when in fact he had misunderstood what time he was supposed to come back. RP 60-61; 85. As a result, he missed the entire testimony of two social workers. RP 61-85.

On the day the court issued its ruling on the termination petitions, Mr. G.-R. could not use the Zoom meeting links to access the courtroom. RP 286. His attorney said, "I think [Mr. G.-R.] would participate, but he hasn't responded to me. I think the Court should not wait any longer for him." RP 288. The court asked counsel to try calling Mr. G.-R., and the ensuing private conversation between counsel and Mr. G.-R.'s mother, in which his mother claimed Mr. G.-R. did not want to participate in the hearing, was heard by the court and recorded as part of the trial. RP 288-90. The court acknowledged it had heard the entire conversation and proceeded to make its ruling without Mr. G.-R.'s presence. RP 290-300. The court granted the State's petitions to terminate Mr. G.-R.'s parental rights. RP 294.

On review, the Court of Appeals determined Mr. G.-R.'s due process rights were not violated by his unnecessarily limited access to the court and to counsel. Slip Op. at 8-11. The court faulted Mr. G.-R. for not to appearing in person during a global pandemic, and found that any limitations he faced were the result of his own actions. *Id*.

### D. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review because the termination trial was held in violation of Mr. G.-R.'s right to due process.

The Court of Appeals found no violation of Mr. G.-R.'s due process rights and essentially placed the blame for Mr. G.-R.'s limited access to the court and his attorney on him rather than on the faulty procedures employed by the trial court. This issue concerns a significant question of law under the United States constitution, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *In re Welfare of M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d 859, 467 P.3d 969 (2020), and this case presents an issue of substantial public interest, warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

a. Termination proceedings implicate a parent's fundamental rights to his children and require robust due process protections.

"Preservation of the family unit is a fundamental constitutional right protected by the Fourteenth Amendment. . ." *In re Welfare of L.R.*, 180 Wn. App. 717, 723, 324 P.3d 737 (2014) (citing *In re Welfare of Darrow*, 32 Wn. App. 803, 806, 649 P.2d 858 (1982)); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3.

Termination hearings require greater due process protections for parents than in dependency proceedings because they can result in the

permanent severance of the parent-child bond. *In re Welfare of R.H.*, 176 Wn. App. 419, 425, 309 P.3d 620 (2013). At a minimum, "[d]ue process protections include a strict burden of proof, the right to notice and an opportunity to be heard and defend, and the right to the assistance of counsel." *M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d at 867. Parents who cannot appear in person must be provided a meaningful opportunity to be heard and defend through alternative procedures. *Id.* at 868.

To determine whether a procedure violates due process, a reviewing court considers three factors: (1) the parents' interests, (2) the risk of error created by the procedures used, and (3) the countervailing governmental interest supporting use of the challenged procedure. *In re Welfare of Key*, 119 Wn.2d 600, 610-11, 836 P.2d 20 (1992); *see Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 334-35, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976); *Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745, 754, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 71 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1982).

b. Focusing primarily on the second <u>Mathews</u> factor, the Court of Appeals incorrectly found Mr. G.-R.'s right to due process was not violated even though he could not meaningfully partake in the trial in the same manner as all other participants.

The second *Mathews* factor assesses the risk of erroneous deprivation of the interest at stake through the procedure used and the probable value, if any, of additional safeguards. 424 U.S. at 335. The Court of Appeals found that Mr. G.-R. was able to participate in the trial, and to the extent he was not able to, it was due to his own behavior. Slip Op. at 8-11. Additionally, the Court of Appeals faulted Mr. G.-R. for "choosing" to appear by phone rather than in person or with his attorney, a "choice" that was in fact mandated by the courts, Mr. G.-R.'s personal circumstances, and a global pandemic. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals opinion misapplies the second factor of the *Mathews* test, focusing on Mr. G.-R.'s actions rather than on the risk of erroneous deprivation created by the trial court's remote trial procedures. Indeed, the severe limitations on Mr. G.-R.'s ability to participate in the trial increased the risk of erroneous termination in several ways: (1) he was not able to testify or communicate with the court in the same manner as the State's witnesses, namely by video, (2) he was unable to meaningfully review and challenge the State's

evidence, and (3) he lacked the same level of access to his attorney as the other parties.

As the Court explained in *Santosky*, the risk of error in termination proceedings is already significant because they:

employ imprecise substantive standards that leave determinations unusually open to the subjective values of the judge. See *Smith v. Organization of Foster Families*[ *for Equal. & Reform*], 431 U.S.[816], 835, n.36[, 97 S. Ct. 2094, 53 L. Ed. 2d 14 (1977)]. In appraising the nature and quality of a complex series of encounters among the agency, the parents, and the child, the court possesses unusual discretion to underweigh probative facts that might favor the parent. Because parents subject to termination proceedings are often poor, uneducated, or members of minority groups, *id.*, at 833-835, such proceedings are often vulnerable to judgments based on cultural or class bias.

Santosky, 455 U.S. at 762-63. In Washington, courts employ similarly subjective standards when deciding whether to terminate a parent's rights, such as whether a parent is likely to correct his deficiencies in the near future or whether termination is in the best interest of the child. See RCW 13.34.180(1)(e). The risk of error is also heightened because the State's ability to "assemble its case almost inevitably dwarfs the parents' ability to mount a defense." Santosky, 455 U.S. at 763.

*M.B.* is instructive. There, this Court determined an incarcerated father's due process rights were violated when the court held a

termination trial largely in his absence despite his desire to attend and participate. 195 Wn.2d at 859. Because the father only appeared by phone and only on the day he testified, he was unable to observe or even hear the State's witnesses, or consult with his attorney throughout the trial. *Id.* at 872. The court found that because the father "had intimate knowledge of [the] subjects" the State's witnesses testified about, "he was in the best position to help counsel identify inaccuracies in the State's evidence and any additional evidence that could be used in his defense." *Id.* 

The *M.B.* court concluded that a meaningful opportunity to be heard in a parental termination case includes the opportunity to hear the State's evidence and consult with counsel. 195 Wn.2d at 874. Despite this holding, the Court of Appeals here determined that Mr. G.-R.'s limited appearance was sufficient because *M.B.* does not require that all witnesses appear via the same means. Slip Op. at 8-9.

The Court of Appeals is incorrect. *M.B.* holds that due process is violated when the trial court is unable to evaluate a parent's in the same way it could evaluate that of the State's witnesses, and a parent is unable to participate fully in the trial. *M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d at 871-72. "In parental termination proceedings, where the State is already advantaged

and where the outcome largely turns on subjective standards, the benefits of nuanced communication and an increased ability to convey truth-telling are particularly important for a parent." *Id.* at 871 (citations omitted).

The procedures employed in Mr. G.-R.'s trial posed a similar risk of erroneous termination. Although Mr. G.-R. was "present" for most of the trial by audio only, he faced limitations on his ability to access the court and his attorney nearly identical to those in *M.B.*. While all other witnesses and parties appeared by video, Mr. G.-R. was limited to use of an old cell phone. He could not see the witnesses testify or see any of the exhibits. Because he could not hear properly, he accidentally answered questions to which his attorney had lodged an objection. Another time, he returned to court late because he misheard when court was resuming, missing the testimony of multiple social workers. Like in *M.B.*, Mr. G.-R. was best situated to identify any inaccuracies in these witnesses' testimonies, but he was unable to do so because the court incorrectly assumed he had voluntarily absented himself.

The Court of Appeals dismissed these concerns, insisting that Mr. G.-R. could have appeared in court in person or at his attorney's

office. First, even if Mr. G.-R. could have appeared in person, he would have done so without the presence of his attorney, who appeared by video from his office. Thus, as a procedure, Mr. G.-R.'s actual presence in court would not have cured the problem of his access to his attorney. Second, the record does not support the trial court's or the Court of Appeals's finding that Mr. G.-R. could have appeared with his attorney at his attorney's office. It is unclear why, with social distancing measures in place, the courts would presume Mr. G.-R. could safely appear with his attorney in the same room, particularly where counsel suffers from diabetes and is at increased risk of COVID-19 complications.

Finally, the Court of Appeals acknowledges in its opinion that remote trial procedures were in place to prevent unnecessary exposure to a "deadly disease," yet suggests that Mr. G.-R. should have risked such exposure by appearing in court to ensure his due process rights were not violated. Slip Op. at 8-9. This reasoning shifts the burden to parents to ensure their own due process rights, and places them in the untenable position of choosing between exposure to a deadly disease or a fair trial that abides by due process.

Due to the remote trial procedures, Mr. G.-R. was limited in his ability to speak with his attorney. Although the court told him he could ask for a breakout room when needed, at times the court muted him for several minutes. The State assumed Mr. G.-R. could text his attorney, but it is unknown whether Mr. G.-R.'s phone was capable of texting, especially considering he was using his phone to call in for the trial. Later, counsel revealed he did not use his personal cell phone to communicate with Mr. G.-R., demonstrating it was impossible for Mr. G.-R. to text his attorney during the trial. Thus, Mr. G.-R. could only consult his attorney by interrupting the trial to ask for a breakout room. However, several times the court muted him and failed to unmute him until after his attorney had completed cross-examination of a State's witness. Therefore, not only was Mr. G.-R. unable to see the witnesses, he had no ability to discuss those witnesses' testimonies with his counsel before or during cross-examination.

And, as in *M.B.*, the court had the opportunity to view all of the State's witnesses and evaluate their demeanor and credibility while they testified. The same cannot be said for Mr. G.-R. Like in *M.B.*, Mr. G.-R.'s limited participation in the trial increased the risk of erroneous

termination in a proceeding which already bears a high risk of error.

This factor weighs in favor of error-reducing procedures.

c. The State's interests do not outweigh Mr. G.-H.'s interests or the high risk of error presented by this remote termination trial.

The final *Mathews* factor considers the State's interest supporting use of the challenged procedure and the burdens that additional procedures would entail. *M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d at 875. The State has an interest in the welfare of children in its custody and in preventing delay in a child's chance for permanency. *Id.* The State also has an interest in avoiding burdensome costs of additional procedures. *Id.* at 876.

Here, although Mr. G.-R. wanted his trial conducted in person, at the very least it would not have been too costly or posed unreasonable security risks to provide Mr. G.-R. with access to a computer with a camera and internet access for four days. Indeed, school districts across the State have been providing the same technology for students without such access at home.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, the Supreme Court's emergency orders require trial courts to provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See https://www.seattletimes.com/education-lab/seattle-schools-face-steep-challenges-rolling-out-tech-during-coronavirus-closures-heres-why/

persons with limited means remote access to the courts at no cost.

Order 25700-B-626, p. 17. Any delay in making these provisions,
particularly in light of Mr. G.-R.'s stated and obvious difficulties
navigating the trial through a cell phone, would have been relatively
minimal and would not have threatened any of the State's interests. On
balance, the State's interests here do not outweigh Mr. G.-R.'s
fundamental interest in maintaining his relationship with his children
and the risk of error that arose from the severe limitations to his
participation in this trial.

d. The Court of Appeals opinion raises a significant question of law under the United States Constitution, conflicts with an opinion of this Court, and raises an issue of public interest, justifying review by this Court.

The Court of Appeals opinion in this case raises a significant question of law under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment: whether remote trial procedures that severely limit a parent's ability to participate in a parental rights termination trial violate due process. RAP 13.4(b)(3). The opinion also conflicts with this Court's opinion in *M.B.*, which holds that due process is violated where a parent's ability to participate in a termination trial is hamstringed by limited access to the court and to counsel. RAP

13.4(b)(1). Additionally, this case raises an issue of public interest because it implicates a parent's right to be present for a termination trial vis-à-vis his right to health and safety during a global pandemic. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should accept review.

### E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Mr. G.-H to accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).