FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/17/2021 2:06 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100096-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE WELFARE OF J.D.E.C. and J.C.,

Minor Children.

### RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LISA M. LAGUARDIA WSBA #29888 Assistant Attorney General 2211 Rimland Drive, Suite 325 Bellingham, WA 98226 (360) 676-2037

###

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

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The trial court's remote hearing procedures protected the father's procedural due process rights. Prior to the commencement of trial, this Court and the Skagit County Superior Court issued detailed orders enabling courts to conduct trials during the COVID-19 pandemic, simultaneously protecting public health and the due process rights of parties. The trial court followed those protocols during the trial to terminate C.G.-R.'s parental rights. The father received a fundamentally fair trial with appropriate procedural safeguards

that allowed his full participation in the proceeding and access to his attorney.

Although C.G.-R. appeared by telephone throughout the trial, Skagit County's binding protocols allowed participants to request in person appearance, and the court instructed the father that the courthouse was open for him to attend and watch the proceedings on video. The trial court provided C.G.-R. ample opportunities to consult and communicate with his attorney and ensured that all parties could hear the proceedings. The father presented testimony, cross-examined witnesses, and actively participated in the trial. The remote proceeding gave C.G.-R. a meaningful opportunity to be heard and defend. His procedural due process challenge should be rejected and his motion for discretionary review denied.

# A. Consistent with Due Process Requirements, the Trial Court Provided C.G.-R. a Meaningful Opportunity to be Heard

Parents have a fundamental liberty interest in the custody, care, and management of their children. *In re the* 

Welfare of A.W., 182 Wn.2d 689, 702, 344 P.3d 1186 (2015). Procedural due process places limitations on governmental decisions that affect an individual's liberty or property interests. *Id.* at 701. "Due process is a flexible concept, but at a minimum it requires the right to notice and an opportunity to be heard." *Id.* The court reviews alleged violations of due process de novo. *In re Welfare of M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d 859, 867, 467 P.3d 969 (2020).

The right to be heard ordinarily includes the right to be present. *In re Welfare of L.R.*, 180 Wn. App. 717, 723, 324 P.3d 737 (2014). However, there is no absolute constitutional right for a parent to personally attend a dependency proceeding. *See Id.* For example, if an incarcerated parent cannot appear in person, they "must be given a meaningful opportunity to be heard and defend through alternative procedures." *M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d at 868.

Despite the global health pandemic, G.C.-R. had notice of the court's emergency protocols and procedures, received

advance notice of witnesses and exhibits, had access to his attorney before, during, and after the trial, and participated fully in the trial. He received a meaningful opportunity to be heard and defend, and his due process claim fails.

### B. The Father's Due Process Rights were Protected Under the *Mathews v. Eldridge* Factors

Procedural due process prohibits the State from depriving an individual of protected liberty interests without appropriate procedural safeguards. *In re Pers. Restraint Petition of Bush*, 164 Wn.2d 697, 704, 193 P.3d 103 (2008). After identifying a protected substantive liberty or property interest, Washington courts employ a balancing test to decide if the procedures used are sufficient to protect the identified liberty interest. *Washington Indep. Tel. Ass'n v. Washington Utils. & Transp. Comm'n*, 110 Wn. App. 498, 508, 41 P.3d 1212 (2002) (citing *Board of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 569, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 33 L. Ed. 2d 548 (1972).

Three elements must be analyzed and balanced when evaluating the adequacy of a procedure: (1) the private interest

at stake, (2) the risk that the procedure used will lead to an erroneous decision, and (3) the government's interest in the procedure used and the fiscal or administrative burden of substitute or additional procedural safeguards. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S. Ct. 893, 903, 47 L.Ed. 2d 18 (1976).

### 1. Both children and parents have private interests at stake

The first *Mathews* factor is "the private interest that will be affected by the official action." *Mathews* 424 U.S. at 335. There are significant private interests in this case.

DCYF agrees that C.G.-R has a significant private interest. A parent "has a fundamental liberty interest in the care and custody of [his] children." *L.R.*, 180 Wn. App. at 724.

Children also have a fundamental liberty interest at stake in these proceedings. *In re Dependency of M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d 1, 6-18, 271 P.3d 234 (2012). "Until the State proves parental unfitness, a child *shares* their parent's interest in an accurate and just decision. These private interests are enormous and

weigh in favor of any reasonable error-reducing procedure." *M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d at 869. In a termination of parental rights case, this Court identified family integrity, the right to be free from unreasonable risk of harm, possible placement in foster care, and possible return to an abusive home as children's potential liberty interests. *M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d at 15-17. Further, a child has "the right to establish a strong, stable, safe, and permanent home in a timely manner." *In re Dependency of A.G.*, 93 Wn. App. 268, 279, 968 P.2d 424 (1998).

### 2. There is little risk of an erroneous decision.

The second *Mathews* factor "looks to the risk of erroneous deprivation and the value of the additional procedures sought." *M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d at 18. The State has no interest in separating children from fit parents. *In re Dependency of T.R.*, 108 Wn. App. 149, 159, 29 P.3d 1275 (2001). The parent, child, and state all share an interest in an accurate and just decision. *Lassiter v. Dep't of Soc. Sers.*, 452 U.S. 18, 31, 101 S.Ct. 2153, 68 L.Ed.2d 640 (1981).

Significant procedural protections are afforded in a termination proceeding. Parents are entitled to notice, representation by counsel, to present evidence and cross-examine witnesses, to access Department records, and to have the case heard by an unbiased tribunal. RCW 13.34.090, 13.34.092, 13.34.096, 13.34.110, 13.34.180.

In addition, the elements set forth at RCW 13.34.180 and 13.34.190 must be established by the high evidentiary standard of clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. To prevail on a petition to terminate parental rights, DCYF must establish the six statutory requirements for termination before an inquiry into the child's best interests under RCW 13.34.190.

Remote fact-finding hearings that comport with the procedures prescribed in the Supreme Court's Emergency Order present a very low risk of error. They provide due process, given the presence of two key safeguards: the parent's ability to listen to and participate in the hearing remotely, and

the parent's ability to confer privately with counsel, including the opportunity to confer before witnesses are cross-examined.

A fact-finding hearing conducted remotely by telephone or videoconference allows the parent to hear all testimony presented and to testify if they so choose. The parent continues to have the right to be represented by counsel and counsel maintains the ability to fully argue any legal issues. The trial court procedures allowed C.G.-R. to testify by phone or video, have communication and consultations with his attorney, and meaningfully review and challenge DCYF's evidence. C.G.-R.'s contentions to the contrary do not withstand scrutiny.

# a. The father had access and ability to communicate by phone or video

C.G.-R.'s active involvement at trial demonstrated he had access and ability to participate. Although he indicated on the first day of testimony that his phone was old, C.G.-R. gave no further indication that it was inadequate for participation. RP 15. The court confirmed that C.G.-R. could hear and be heard throughout the trial. RP 14, 84, 164, 221, 285. C.G.-R.

demonstrated his ability to access the trial by his repeated disruptions as he interrupted and talked over attorneys, witnesses and the court. RP 21-23, 25, 28, 32-33, 37-38, 42, 99, 106, 107, 111, 114, 122, 133, 152, 163, 167, 192, 216, 226, 245, 247. The only times C.G.-R. argued that he could not hear testimony occurred when no one was talking or when he was talking over the speaker. RP 42-43, 152. The only time C.G.-R.'s phone was silent was when he failed to call in to the proceedings. RP 60-61, 205, 216, 290.

The record establishes that C.G.-R. had the ability to communicate by telephone and the option to participate by video in a courtroom complying with pandemic safety protocols if he chose to do so. RP 23. On the first morning of trial, C.G.-R. affirmed his willingness and ability to attend in person, but he chose to continue to attend by telephone. RP 46. In acknowledging C.G.-R. had a choice to appear by telephone or video, the Court of Appeals did not engage in burden shifting, but recognized these options. C.G.-R.'s argument to the

contrary fails. *See* Motion for Discretionary Review (Pet'r's Mot. Review) at 12.

# b. The father had access to his counsel during trial

To ensure C.G.-R.'s access to his attorney, the court granted C.G.-R.'s every request to consult with his attorney during trial. RP 25, 88, 167, 183, 216-17, 227, 248, 266. The trial court provided 15 opportunities over two days for C.G.-R. to consult with his attorney and provided additional opportunities for consultation beyond those requested. RP 25, 33, 36, 60, 85-86, 111, 138, 163, 167, 183, 216-17, 227, 248, 253, 266.

C.G.-R. had direct access to his attorney by phone and email. C.G.-R. spoke with his attorney during lunch breaks and after hours. RP 8, 83, 85, 287. He had the ability to text on his phone, and at the conclusion of DCYF's case, C.G.-R.'s attorney indicated that he had "ongoing conversations" with his client during the proceeding and after hours. RP 150, 181-82, 222, 252. C.G.-R. and his mother provided the attorney with

email evidence via text message during the trial. RP 204. The record demonstrates C.G.-R. had access to his counsel throughout the proceedings.

### c. The father was able to review and challenge the evidence

The superior court established pre-trial protocols to ensure all parties had access to the evidence and witnesses despite the pandemic. Superior Court of Washington, County of Skagit, Remote Bench Trial Protocol and Procedures. at 3, ¶ 5. DCYF complied with the protocol and provided witness information, exhibit lists and exhibits to all parties and the court in advance of trial. CP 346, 361, 369, 392. At the close of DCYF's case and after consultation with his attorney, C.G.-R. moved to call three previously undisclosed witnesses; the court granted the request. RP 181-82, 222, 252. C.G.-R. had ample time before and during the trial proceedings to review and challenge the evidence, and his argument to the contrary fails.

### d. The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with *In re M.B*.

In re the Welfare of M.B., 195 Wn.2d 859, 467 P.3d 969 (2020) does not support C.G.-R.'s claims that his due process rights were violated. C.G.-R.'s argument fails because, unlike the parent in M.B., he had the opportunity to attend and actively participate in the full termination trial, he heard DCYF's witnesses, he reviewed and challenged the evidence, and he regularly consulted with his attorney, consistent with this Court's emergency orders and due process.

In *M.B* the father was incarcerated, he was not transported to appear for the termination trial, he appeared by telephone to present his testimony, was only able to listen to a brief amount of cross-examination, and he did not have the opportunity to consult with his attorney. *M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d at 865-66. The limitations on the parent's participation in *M.B.* were not present here.

Unlike the father in *M.B.*, the trial court allowed C.G.-R. to appear by telephone, but authorized C.G.-R.'s in-person

appearance. RP 23. C.G.-R. claims he faced limitations nearly identical to those faced by the father in *M.B.* Petitioner's Pet'r's Mot. Review at 11. Yet he was not incarcerated and faced no restrictions on his personal liberty. Ample evidence shows C.G.-R. had both the ability and the permission to attend the trial in person following safety protocols; he simply chose not to do so.

The father suggests he should have been provided access to a computer with a camera and internet access for four days. Pet'r's Mot. Review at 14. The trial court did just that, providing the same access by giving him the opportunity to watch the video in the courtroom. The Skagit County protocols specified how participants could safely appear in the courtroom, with masks and social distancing. Order at 3, *In the Matter of Emergency Response to COVID-19 Outbreak*, No. 20-8, ¶ 5 (Skagit County. Sup. Ct. June 16, 2020).

The court muted C.G.-R. on six occasions, following his verbal outbursts, interruptions, coaching of his witness and

attorney, and name-calling. RP 23, 33, 37-38, 133, 158. However, the trial court unmuted C.G.-R. as soon as the witness completed the answer to the question. *Id.* There is no evidence that C.G.-R. was ever prevented from requesting a consultation with his attorney before, during, or after examination of any witnesses. The record belies C.G.-R.'s assertions to the contrary. Pet'r's Mot. Review at 13.

The trial court provided 15 opportunities over two days for C.G.-R. to break and consult with his attorney. RP 25, 33, 36, 60, 85-86, 111, 138, 163, 167, 183, 216-17, 227, 248, 253, 266. The trial court did not hurry the parties, and in one instance, C.G.-R. spoke to his attorney for 30 minutes. RP 183. In addition, C.G.-R. spoke to his attorney by phone multiple times throughout the trial. RP 8, 83, 85, 181-83, 204, 222, 252, 287.

When a parent is not able to personally appear, M.B. requires the court provide a meaningful opportunity for the parent to be heard and defend through the alternative procedure.

*M.B.*, 195 Wn.2d at 868. The procedures utilized by the trial court provided C.G.-R. that meaningful opportunity. The trial court's actions to provide the father access to the hearing and opportunity for consultation with his attorney minimized any risk of erroneous decision.

# e. The State has a well-recognized interest in providing stable and permanent homes for dependent children

The third *Mathews* factor is "the government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail." *Mathews*, 424 U.S. at 335.

DCYF has an interest in ensuring that the child's safety and wellbeing are protected. As a result, DCYF has an interest in ensuring a speedy resolution of dependency proceedings "to ensure that children do not remain in legal limbo—with the mental and emotional strain that entails—for any longer than is necessary." *State v. Parvin*, 184 Wn.2d 741, 762, 364 P.3d 94

(2015). Remote fact-finding hearings support DCYF's interest in a speedy resolution and protecting the child's welfare.

# f. Balancing the *Matthews* factors shows no violation of due process

The parent's interest must be weighed with other countervailing interests and the safeguards in place to reduce the risk of error. It is unclear how long COVID-19 will necessitate courtroom limitations and social distancing requirements. Conducting a remote hearing and providing the father with access to the courtroom video provided an additional option for access while preventing unnecessary delay that would keep the children in legal limbo.

The balancing of the *Mathews* factors demonstrates that the procedures employed did not violate C.G.-R.'s due process rights. Faced with a worldwide pandemic, the trial court followed Supreme Court and county emergency procedures and held a fundamentally fair hearing consistent with *M.B.* and due process. C.G.-R has not identified any cross-examination he

was unable to perform; any testimony he was unable to give; any witness he was unable to call; any evidence he was unable to view or offer; any discussion he was unable to hold with counsel; or any other deficiency affecting his rights.

This Court should deny review.

### V. CONCLUSION

C.G.-R. fails to satisfy any basis for review under RAP 13.4(b), and this Court should deny his motion for discretionary review.

This document contains 4,977 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.